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ASSURANCE OF VOLUNTARY COMPLIANCE AND DISCONTINUANCE WITH

MORTGAGE TOOLBOX, INC. AND CHAD PETERSEN

This Assurance of Voluntary Compliance and Discontinuance (“Assurance”) is

entered into between the State of Colorado, ex rel. John W. Suthers, Attorney General,

Respondent Mortgage Toolbox, Inc. and Respondent Chad Petersen, a mortgage broker

licensed with the State of Colorado (collectively, “Respondents™). This Assurance is entered

into pursuant to the Attorney General’s powers under § 6-1-110(2), C.R.S. (2007), and is

being agreed to by the parties in lieu of the Attorney General filing a complaint against

Respondents for the conduct described below.
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I PARTIES

1. John W. Suthers is the duly elected Attorney General for the State of Colorado
and has express jurisdiction to investigate and to prosecute violations of the Colorado
Consumer Protection Act (“CCPA”), § 6-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. (2007).

2. Respondent Mortgage Toolbox, Inc. (*Mortgage Toolbox”) is a Colorado
corporation with its principal place of business at 7200 S. Alton Way, Suite A-230, Centennial,
Colorado 80111. Mortgage Toolbox is a mortgage brokerage firm or mortgage originator.
Mortgage Toolbox advertises, markets, and brokers mortgages for residential properties in
Colorado. Mortgage Toolbox understands and agrees that this Assurance shall apply to
Mortgage Toolbox, as well as any principals, officers, directors, agents, employees,
representatives, loan officers, successors, affiliates, subsidiaries, assigns and any person acting
on behalf of Mortgage Toolbox.

3. Chad Petersen is a licensed mortgagé broker with the State of Colorado Division of
Real Estate, License Number LMB 100009427, and is the current owner and President of
Mortgage Toolbox. This Assurance also applies to him personally, so long as he is affiliated
with Mortgage Toolbox, Petersen’s Mortgage, Inc.. (“Petersen’s Mortgage™), or any other
mortgage brokerage firm in which he owns an interest or over which he has control.

4. Prior to forming Mortgage Toolbox, Petersen formed Petersen’s Mortgage, a
Colorado corporation with its registered agent’s address as 1292 Buffalo Ridge Road, Castle
Rock, Colorado 80108. Petersen signed up Peteljsen’s Mortgage with banks or lenders but

advertises and operates under the Mortgage Toolbox name. As Petersen’s Mortgage is the entity
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recognized by banks and lenders, all of the loans brokered by Mortgage Toolbox reference
Petersen’s Mortgage on various loan and financial documents. Petersen is also the owner and
registered agent of Petersen’s Mortgage. Petersen understands and agrees that this Assurance
shall apply to Petersen’s Mortgage, as well as any principals, officers, directors, agents,
employees, representatives, loan officers, successors, affiliates, subsidiaries, assigns and any
person acting on behalf of Petersen’s Mortgage.

1I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

5. Pursuant to the CCPA, Colorado Attorney General John W. Suthers has conducted an
investigation into the advertising activities of Mortgage Toolbox.

6. Mortgage Toolbox advertised, markéted and brokered option adjustable rate
mortgages (“option ARMs”) and other non-traditional loan products. At times, Mortgage
Toolbox advertised its option ARM loans as the “Smart Loan” or the “Secure Option Program.”
These option ARM loans allowed a borrower to cﬁoose from four payment options each month:
(a) a minimum payment based on a 12-month “start rate”; (b) an interest-only payment; (c) a 15-
year amortizing payment of principal and interest; or (d) a 30-year amortizing payment of
principal and interest.

7. Mortgage Toolbox ran newspaper and radio advertisements in Denver metropolitan
newspapers and on Denver metropolitan radio stations from 2005 through 2007 that advertised
option ARM loan products. Petersen approved the content and design of the advertisements,
while Alex Yakubovich and Mark B. Gallegos provided input into the content of the

advertisements.
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8. Mortgage Toolbox’s newspaper advertisements often advertised interest rates for 30-
year fixed mortgages but highlighted payment amounts for an option ARM with a one-month
interest rate of 1%. For example, Mortgage Toolbox advertised an interest rate of 5.99% /
6.184% APR (or Annual Percentage Rate) below the heading “30 Year Fixed.” Under these
headings, Mortgage Toolbox displayed a chart featuring loan payments for typical loan amounts:

30 YEAR FIXED

5.99%/6.184% APR

LOAN AMOUNT | PAYMENT*

$200,000 ' $42
$300,000 $62
$500,000 $104

The State contends that these payment rates did not correspond to the 30-year fixed, 5.99% /
6.184% APR. The State contends that the only indication that these payment rates did not
correspond to the 30-year fixed interest rate was an asterisk next to the word “PAYMENT,”
which referenced a disclosure in very small, sometimes unreadable type. The State contends that
nowhere in the advertisement did Mortgage Toolbox disclose the APR for the loan payments
stated in the charts or the terms of repayment.

9. While Mortgage Toolbox encouraged prospective customers to contact the company
for a free appraisal, customers had to pay for the appraisal at the time of the appraisal. Mortgage

Toolbox would credit the cost of the appraisal to the customer only if the customer closed a loan
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with Mortgage Toolbox. If the prospective customer decided not to close a loan with Mortgage
Toolbox, that person would not receive a refund of the appraisal fee. Mortgage Toolbox
received complaints about its purportedly “free” appraisal offer.

10. Mortgage Toolbox also ran radio advertisements on Denver metropolitan radio
stations such as 850 KOA, The Wolf 92.5, KOOL 105, KYGO, ESPN, 950 The Fan, and KS
107.5. Petersen, Yakubovich, Gallegos, and Shell .Blanscet would each take a “call day” where
all calls generated from the radio advertisement would go to the “on call” person.

1. Some of Mortgage Toolbox’s radio advertisements stated that consumers could skip
a number of payments on a 1%, 30 year mortgage. The State contends that these radio
advertisements did not disclose the APR.

12. Mortgage Toolbox’s newspaper and radio advertisements marketed other selling
points about its loan products, including the following:

e Stated Income Loans

e Stated Asset Loans

e No Documentation Loans

e All Credit Welcome

* 1 Day Out of Bankruptcy

e 125% Loans
The State contends that these advertisements did not disclose that these types of loans typically
result in a more expensive mortgage for the borrower by either requiring a higher interest rate or

financing a higher amount.
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13. Both the newspaper and radio advertisements claimed that Mortgage Toolbox offered
no closing cost loans. The State contends that, in reality, however, Mortgage Toolbox charged
closing costs to the borrower and simply wrapped the closing costs into the total loan amount so
that the borrower did not pay the closing costs as a separate cost up front.

14. Finally, the State contends that Mortgage Toolbox’s advertisements did not comply
with the Colorado Uniform Commercial Credit Code (“UCCC”), the federal Truth in Lending
Act (“TILA”), or Regulation Z. Among other things, the State contends that Mortgage
Toolbox’s advertisements failed to disclose many features of the loan, including the correct
APR, the rate at which interest would accrue, the terms of repayment, that the APR may increase
after closing, that prepayment penalties may apply, that the low introductory rates were effective
only for a limited time period, that negative amortization or deferred interest may occur if a
borrower only makes the minimum payment, that the loan may recast if negative amortization
causes the original loan balance to increase by a certain percentage, and that payment shock may
result from recasting.

15. The State contends that, due to the extremely low introductory rates in its newspaper
and radio advertisements, Mortgage Toolbox received numerous telephone calls per day from
prospective customers from 2005 through 2007.

16. As such, the State contends that these misrepresentations and omissions of material
facts may have caused significant financial harm to Colorado consumers and have the potential

to continue. Petersen lives and works in the State of Colorado and has an active mortgage broker

license that does not expire until December 4, 2009.
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17. The State contends that these advertising and sales practices violate the CCPA,
including § 6-1-105(1), C.R.S. (2007) and § 38-40-105, C.R.S. (2007).

III.  DEFINITIONS

18. “Advertising Material” shall mean all advertisements, marketing or promotional
materials issued by Respondents, including but not limited to, newspaper and magazine
advertisements, direct mail, flyers, brochures, emails, faxes, websites, telemarketing,
billboards and banner or pop-up advertising that is disseminated electronically.

19. “CHARM Booklet” means the Consumer Handbook on Adjustable-Rate
Mortgages published by the Federal Reserve Board.

20. “Clear and Conspicuous” or “Clearly and Conspicuously” as used herein shall
mean that the information must be disclosed with Equal Prominence and in Close Proximity
to the term or phrase that triggers the clear and conspicuous disclosure requirement.

21. “Close Proximity” shall mean that the information to be disclosed must be
immediately adjacent or above the term or phrase that triggers the disclosure requirement.

22. “Credit score” means a numerical value that ranks a borrower’s credit risk based
upon a statistical evaluation of the borrower’s credit history as determined by the Fair [saac
Corporation.

23. “Easily Readable Print” shall mean that the information to be disclosed shall be

readable without the aid of magnification or the assistance of other devices. A disclosure
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shall not be deemed easily readable if it is located in a footnote, in small print, on the side or
back of the Advertising Material, or in an unreadable font size or typetace.

24. “Equal Prominence” shall mean that the information to be disclosed must have
the same contrast and be in the same font size and typeface as the term or phrase that triggers
the disclosure requirement.

25. “Fixed Rate Mortgage” means a mortgage that has a fixed interest rate for the
entire term of the mortgage.

26. “Loan to Value ratio” means the relationship between the loan amount and the
value of the property (the lower of the appraised value or sales price), expressed as a
percentage of the property’s value.

27. “Nontraditional Mortgage” means any residential mortgage loan product that
allows the borrower to defer repayment of principal (in a manner different than an amortizing
fixed rate mortgage) or interest. This includes all interest only products, payment option
ARMs and negative amortization mortgages, with the exception of reverse mortgages and
home equity lines of credit.

28. A “Traditional 3/1, 5/1 or 7/1 ARM” shall mean a hybrid ARM, with a fixed rate
for an initial period, but then changes at regular intervals after this initial period based on an

index and margin. For example, a Traditional 5/1 ARM has a fixed rate for five years and

then after the fifth year changes each year thereafter. The change in interest rate is based on
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changes in an index rate, such as the rate for Treasury securities, the London Interbank

Offered Rate or the Cost of Funds Index plus a margin.

IV.  UNDERTAKINGS

29. Respondents enter this Assurance as a compromise and settlement of the State’s
allegations herein. This Assurance shall not be considered an admission of violation for any
purpose, and Respondents do not accept that the contentions of the State are accurate.
Respondents assure the State that Respondents and any future loan officers they may employ,
as well as any principals, officers, directors, agents, employees, representatives, SUCCESSOrs,
affiliates, subsidiaries, contractors, assigns and any person acting on their behalf shall
comply with the CCPA with respect to Advertising Material as now constituted or as may
hereafter be amended in conducting business in the state of Colorado. The undertakings in
paragraphs 29 through 42 shall remain in effect for five (5) years from the date of this
agreement.

A. Disclosures Provided to Borrowers.

30. In discussing any ARM loan product or Nontraditional Mortgage with a
consumer, Respondents shall not represent that the introductory rate is the applicable interest
rate for longer than the introductory period. Respondents shall affirmatively disclose the
following:

a) The precise term of any introductory rate;
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b) The interest rate the consumer will likely pay after the expiration of the
introductory interest rate;
¢) The consumer’s estimated monthly payment for each payment option upon the
expiration of that introductory rate; and
d) The maximum monthly payment the consumer may have to pay under the
loan.
Additionally, Respondents shall not represent the introductory rate as the “interest rate” for
purposes of the Good Faith Estimate.

31. Respondents shall not provide any consumer with a federal Truth in Lending
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601, et seq. (“TILA™), disclosure based solely on the introductory rate.
Copies of all TILA disclosures provided to the consumer shall be part of the consumer’s loan
file.

32. At least twenty-four (24) hours before closing on any ARM product,
Respondents must verify that the borrower has been provided a current copy of the CHARM
booklet. If one has not been provided, Respondents shall give a copy of a current CHARM
Booklet to the borrower twenty-four (24) hours before closing on any ARM loan product. A

current copy of the CHARM Booklet is attached hereto as Exhibit A. Respondents shall go

to www.FederalReserve.Gov to obtain the most current copy of the CHARM Booklet. The

CHARM Booklet will be the borrower’s to keep.
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33. When Respondents have verified that the borrower has received the CHARM
booklet and has kept it for at least twenty-four (24) hours, the borrower and Respondents

shall sign and date a Confirmation of Receipt Form, attached hereto as Exhibit B.

B. Advertising of Mortgage Loan Products.

34. The advertising standards set forth in this subsection IV(B) shall apply to all
Advertising Material issued by Respondents.
1. Requirements Regardless of Future Revisions to Regulation Z.
35. When creating any Advertising Material for any mortgage loan products,
Respondents shall follow the advertising standards set forth in Regulation Z, 12 CFR
§ 226.24 and staff commentary, including any future revisions to either.
36. The following terms shall apply to Respondents’ Advertising Material regardless
of any revisions that may be made to Regulation Z:
a.) Respondents shall not advertise any interest rates, payment rates, or payment
schedules for any Nontraditional Mortgages;
b.) Respondents shall not advertise an interest rate lower than the rate at which
interest is accruing on the loan;
¢.) Use of the term “fixed” may only refer to a Fixed Rate Mortgage;
d.) Advertising Material for loans featuring no closing costs, no payments for a
set time period, no document loans or reduced documentation or that income

need not be verified shall also contain Clear and Conspicuous disclosures that
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such features will cause the borrower to finance a greater amount or pay a
higher interest rate, if that is the‘ case; and
e.) Any Advertising Material that Respondents run which offer free appraisals or
no appraisal fees must Clearly and Conspicuously state the conditions for
receiving the free appraisal. For example, if the borrower must pay for the
appraisal at the time of appraisal and the Respondents reimburse or credit the
appraisal fee to the borrower at a later time, and only if the loan closes, then
the Advertising Material must state as such.
2. Advertising Standards Pending Revisions to Regulation Z.
37. The following terms shall govern Respondents’ advertising of rates and payments.
These terms shall take effect upon the execution of this Assurance. The F ederal Reserve
Board has proposed revisions to Regulation Z that would apply to the advertising of rates and
payments. See 73 Fed. Reg. 1672, 1722 — 1724 (January 9, 2008) (proposed new rule found
at 12 CFR 226.24). On July 15, 2008, the Federal Reserve Board adopted the proposed
revisions to Regulation Z, which will become effective on October 1,2009. See 73 Fed.
Reg. 44522, 44607-44610. Until these proposed revisions to Regulation Z become effective,
Respondents must follow the standards as set forth below. Once the revisions to Regulation

Z become effective on October 1, 2009, Respondents shall follow Regulation Z as revised

and need not follow the standards set forth below.
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38. When advertising the rate for a loan, Respondents may advertise a rate based
either on: (1) a Fixed Rate Mortgage; or (2) a Traditional 3/1, 5/1 or 7/ 1-year ARM.

39. When advertising the rate for a Fixed Rate Mortgage, Respondents shall satisfy
the following requirements:
a.) Respondents must have verifiable evidence that the rate advertised was actually
available at the time of dissemination of the Advertising Material; and
b.) The Advertising Material must disclose in Close Proximity to the rate and in
Easily Readable Print at least the following criteria, if applicable, that must be
satisfied for a borrower to obtain the rate:
i.) The period of time over which the Fixed Rate Mortgage is amortized;
ii.) Whether or not the mortgage will come due with an unpaid balance that
requires the borrower to pay the remaining principal balance at a date
certain and, if so, what the payment amount will be (“balloon payment”)
and the date the payment will be due;
iii.) The loan amount;
iv.) The Loan-to-Value ratio, using that term;
v.) The minimum Credit Score;
vi.) The buy down required; and

vil.)  The amount of any prepayment penalty.
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40. When advertising the rate for a Traditional 3/1, 5/1 or 7/1 ARM, Respondents
shall satisty the following requirements:
a.) Respondents must have verifiable evidence that the rate advertised was actually
available at the time of dissemination of the Advertising Material;
b.) The Advertising Material must Clearly and Conspicuously disclose the APR for
the loan and, if the Advertising Material also discloses an initial rate, then
the Advertising Material must Clearly and Conspicuously state the term during
which this initial rate will apply;
¢.) If the rate will increase after the initial term, the Advertising Material must
disclose in Close Proximity to the initial rate and in Easily Readably Print that the
new rate will be based on an index plus a margin; and
d.) The Advertising Material must disclose in Close Proximity to the rate and in
Easily Readable Print at least the following criteria, if applicable, that must be
satisfied for a borrower to obtain the rate:
1.) The loan amount;
ii.) The Loan-to-Value ratio, using that term;
1i1.) The minimum Credit Score;
iv.)The buy down required;
v.) Whether the loan includes a balloon payment and, if so, the amount and

due date of the balloon payment; and
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vi.) The amount of any prepayment penalty.
41. When advertising the amount of a payment on a loan, Respondents shall satisfy
the following requirements:
a.) Respondents must have verifiable evidence that the payment amount advertised
was actually available at the time of dissemination of the Advertising Material;
b.) The payment amount may be based only a Fixed Rate Mortgage;
¢.) The Advertising Material must disclose in Close Proximity to the payment
amount and in Easily Readable Print at least the following criteria, if applicable,
that must be satisfied for a borrower to obtain the payment:
1.) The rate, including the APR, using that term;
i1.) The period of time over which the Fixed Rate Mortgage is
amortized,
i11.) Whether the loan includes a balloon payment and, if so, the amount
and due date of the balloon payment, and
iv.) The loan amount;
v.) The Loan-to-Value ratio, using that term;
vi.) The minimum Credit Score;
vii.)  The buy down required; and

viii.)  The amount of any prepayment penalty; and
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d.) If the payment amount advertised does not include an escrow for taxes or
insurance, a Clear and Conspicuous disclosure shall be made in Close Proximity
to the to the payment amount that it does not include taxes and insurance.
42.If all of the interest rates advertised in the same Advertising Material are based on

the same criteria, the Advertising Material need contain only one disclosure.

V. ENFORCEMENT

43. A violation of any of the terms of this Assurance shall constitute a prima facie
violation of the CCPA in accordance with § 6-1-110(2), C.R.S. (2007). Upon a violation of
any of the terms of this Assurance by a Respoﬁdent, the Attorney General shall be entitled to
file a civil action under the CCPA in any court of competent jurisdiction and to seck an
injunction or other appropriate order from such court to enforce the provisions of this
Assurance.

44. At least thirty (30) days prior to filing a civil action, the Attorney General will
provide notice of the violation to Respondents. Respondents may submit a written request
for a conference with the Attorney General within ten (10) calendar days of delivery of the
notice of violation. Upon receiving a timely written request, the Attorney General and
Respondents shall meet promptly to discuss the notice of violation, but unless the Attorney
General consents, the conference may not occur more than thirty (30) calendar days after

delivery of the notice of violation.
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45. The Attorney General will not be obligated to meet and confer with Respondents
regarding the violation if Respondents do not request the conference in writing or if
Respondents request the conference more than ten (10) calendar days after delivery of the
notice of violation. Regardless of the outcome of the conference, the Attorney General
retains the right to file a civil action under the CCPA to seek an injunction or other
appropriate order from such court to enforce tﬁe provisions of this Assurance.

46. In addition to any remedies provided under the CCPA, the Attorney General will
also be entitled to apply for and seek from a court of competent jurisdiction an order
converting this Assurance into a permanent injunction against a Respondent as if the parties
had fully litigated all issues contained herein, upon a showing by the Attorney General’s
Office of a violation by a Respondent of this Assurance. In such event, Respondents agree to
waive any and all defenses and counterclaims they may have had to this action, except as to
claims or defenses related to the alleged violation of this Assurance or as to the need for
injunctive relief.

47. The obligations set forth in this Assurance are continuing and apply jointly to
Mortgage Toolbox and Petersen.

48. This Assurance shall not be construed to affect the rights of any private party to

pursue remedies pursuant to § 6-1-113, C.R.S. (2007), or under any other statutes through

claims or actions in common law.
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49. Nothing in this Assurance shall be construed to release claims held by any other
government authority.

50. Pursuant to § 6-1-110(2), C.R.S. (2007), this Assurance shall be a matter of
public record.

51. This Assurance may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed to be an original, but which together shall lconstitute the Assurance.

52. The person who signs this Assurance in a representative capacity for Mortgage
Toolbox warrants that he or she is duly authorized to do so. Respondents acknowledge that
they have had a full opportunity to review this Assurance and consult with legal counsel
regarding same. Respondents agree and represent that they have read and understand this
Assurance, that they accept the legal consequences involved in signing it and that there are
no other representations, agreements or understandings between Respondents and the State
that are not stated in writing herein.

53. Any notices, complaints or other documents required by this Assurance (including

any request or subpoena) shall be sent to the following individuals at the address, email or

fax set forth below:

To Respondent Mortgage Toolbox, Inc. at: To Respondent Chad Petersen at:
Phone: Phone:

Fax: Fax:

Email: Email:
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To The State at:
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Jennifer Miner Dethmers
Assistant Attorney General
Antitrust, Tobacco, and Consumer Protection Unit

Consumer Protection
1525 Sherman Street
Denver, CO 80203

Section

~ 7" Floor

Phone: (303) 866-2296

Fax: (303) 866-4916

Email: jennifer.dethmers@state.co.us

RESPONDENT Mortgage Toolbox, Inc.

By: ~ 2., i
(Slgnature of Authorlzed Representatlve)
7 e 7
g”;’ ::/AE:;;?/ e ,«"’;);:;;ﬁf { s g g

(Please print name and title)

Dated: /0- 005

JOHN W. SUTHERS
Attomey eneral

,,

77 é{’/ s L g‘L[ rreh(
NNIF EKﬁMINER DETHMERS
Assistant Attorney General

Consumer Protection Section

Dated: Gz /ﬂ’:{ V‘

RESPONDENT: Chad Petersen

By: »/f - "";’/’? ‘Z{:M”
(Signature)
gy p S
) - f{’; g

(Please print name)
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Consumer Handbook on Adjustable-Rate Mortgages 1

| interest Rate

Adjustable-rate mortgages
(ARMs) are loans with
interest rates that change.

ARMs may start with fower

monthly payments than fixed-
rate mortgages, but keep the
following in mind:

m  Your monthly payments could change. They could go
up—sometimes by a lot—even if interest rates don’t go up.
See page 20.

& Your pavments mayv not go down much, or at alf—-cven it
interest rates go dowrn. Sec page 11

u  You could end up owing more money than vou borrowed-—
even if vou make all vour payments on time. See page 22,

= If you want to pay off vour ARM early to aveid higher pay-

ments, vou might have to pav a penalty. See page 24

You need to compare features of ARMs to find the one that best

fits your needs. See the Mortgage Shopping Worksheet on page 2.

This handbook explains how ARMs work and discusses some of
the issues that borrowers may face. It includes ways to reduce
the risks and gives some pointers about advertising and other
ways you can get information from lenders and other trusted
advisers. Important ARM terms are defined in a glossary. And
the Mortgage Shopping Worksheet can help you ask the right
questions and figure out whether an ARM is right for you. Ask
lenders to help you fill out the worksheet so you can get the

information vou need to compare mortgages.



Mortgage Shopping Worksheet

Ask your lender or broker to help you fill out this worksheet.

ontact information

Loan dt.‘sdlptmﬁ
(e, Hxed rate, 3/ 1 ARM, pavment-option ARM, interest-only ARM;

Basrc Features for Comparlson
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Fixed-Rate Mortgage

ARM 2

ARM 3




4 Consumer Handbook on Adjustable-Rate Mortgages
What Is an ARM?

An adjustable-rate mortgage differs from a fixed-rate mortgage
in many ways. With a fixed-rate mortgage, the interest rate stays
the same during the life of the Joan. With an ARM, the interest
rate changes periodically, usually in relation to an index, and
payments may go up or down accordingly.

o oy

Shopping for a mortgage is not as simple as it used to be. To

compare two ARMs with cach other or to compare an ARM with

a fixed-rate mortgage, vou necd to know about indexes, o

aps on rates andd pavments, negative amortization,

discounts, ¢

ent options, and recasting frecateulating) vour loan You

[ ¥

nevd to consider the maximum amount vour monthly pavinent

could increase. Most important, vou need o kinow what m
happen to vour monthly mortgage payment in relation to vour

future ability to afford higher pavments.

benders generally charge lower initial interest rates for ARMs
than for fixed-rate mortgages. At first, this makes the ARM casier
on vour pocketbook than a fixed-rate mortgage for the same foan
amount. Moreover, vour ARM could be less expensive over 4
long period than a fixed-rate mortgage—for example, if interest

rates remain steady or move lower.

Against these advantages, you have to weigh the risk that an
increase in interest rates would lead to higher monthly pavments
in the future. It's a trade-off—you get a lower initial rate with

an ARM in exchange for assuming more risk over the fong run.

Here are some questions you need to consider:
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[s my income enough—or likely to rise enough—to cover
higher mortgage payments if interest rates go up?

Will T be taking on other sizable debts, such as a loan for a
car or school tuition, in the near future?

How long do 1 plan to own this home? (If you plan to sell
soon, rising interest rates may not pose the problem thev do
if you plan to own the house for a long time.)

Do 1 plan to make anv additional payments or pay the loan

off earlv?

Lenders and Brokers

Mortgage loans are offered by many kinds of
lenders—such as banks, mortgage companies, and
credit unions. You can also get a loan through a
mortgage broker. Brokers “arrange” loans; in other
waords, they find a lender for you. Brokers gener-
ally take your application and contact several lend-
ers, but keep in mind that brokers are not required
to find the best deal for you unless they have
contracted with you to act as your agent.
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How ARMs Work:
The Basic Features

Initial rate and payment

The mitial rate and payment amount on an ARM will remain in

effect for a limited period of time—ranging from just | month to

5 years or more. For some ARMs, the initial rate and payment

can vary greatly from the rates and payments later in the loan

ferm. Feenif interest rates are stable, vour rates and pavments

could change o tot 1t lenders or brokers quote the inital rate

and payment on g toany, ask them for the annual percentige rate

CAPR) T the MR s significantly higher than the ins

it is likely that vour rote and pavments will be o lot Hivher when
= - Al

the Toan adjusts, cven if general interest rates remain fhe same.
The adjustment period

With most ARMs. the interest rate and monthly payvment change
every month, quarter, vear, 3 years, or 5 vears. The period between
rate changes is called the adjustment period. For example, a loan
with an adjustment period of | vear is called a 1-vear ARM, and
the interest rate and pavment can change once every vear; a loan

with a 3-year adjustment pertod is called a 3-yvear ARM.
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Loan Descriptions

Lenders must give you written information on each
type of ARM loan you are interested in. The infor-
mation must include the terms and conditions for
each loan, including information about the index
and margin, how your rate will be calculated, how
often your rate can change, limits on changes (or
caps), an example of how high your monthly pay-
ment might go, and other ARM features such as

negative amortization.

&

The index

The interest rate on an ARM is made up of two parts: the index
and the margin. The fndex is a measure of interest rates genor-

3
o1

iy, and the margin is an extra amount that the lender adds.

Your pavments will be affected by any caps, or limits, on how

high or low your rate can go. If the index rate moves up, so does
vour interest rate in most circumstances, and vou will probably
have to make higher monthly payments. On the other hand,

if the index rate goes down, your monthly pavment could go
down. Not all ARMs adjust downward, however-—be sure to

read the mformation for the loan vou are considering.

Lenders base ARM rates on a variety of indexes. Among the
most common indexes are the rates on l-year constant-maturity
Treasury (CMT) securities, the Cost of Funds Index (COFI), and
the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR). A few lenders use
their own cost of funds as an index, rather than using other

indexes. You should ask what index will be used, how it has
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fluctuated in the past, and where it is published-—vyou can find a

lot of this information in major newspapers and on the Internet.

To help vou get anidea of how to compare different indexes, the
following chart shows a few common indexes over an 1 l-year
period (1996-2006). As vou can see, some index rates tend to be
higher than others, and some change more often. But if o lender
bases interest-rate adjustments on the average value of an index

aver fime, Vo interest rate would not Chang@ as m;'naﬁcaily

\’w
Selected index Rates for ARMs ““*;
aver an 11-Year Period .

The margin

To determine the interest rate on an ARM, lenders add a few per-
centage pomts to the index rate, called the marerr. The amount

of the margin mav differ from one lender to another, but it is
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usually constant over the life of the loan. The fully indexed roke is
equal to the margin plus the index. If the initial rate on the loan
is less than the fully indexed rate, it is called a discounted index
rate. For example, if the lender uses an index that currently 1s 4%

and adds a 3“4 margin, the fully indexed rate would be

Index 1%,
+ Margin 3%

Fully indexed rate 7%

1§ the index on this loan rose to 5%, the fully mdexed rate would
l 3

Ly I the index fell to 2%, the fully indesed rate

S

be 8% (300 4 3
would be 575 027+ 3700

Some lenders base the amount of the margin on vour credit record
the better vour credit, the lower the margin they add—and the fower
e interest vou will have to pav on vour mortgage. In comparing

ARMs, ook at bath the index and margin for each program.

No-Doc/Low-Doc Loans

When you apply for a loan, lenders usually require
documents to prove that your income is high
enough to repay the loan. For example, a lender
might ask to see copies of your most recent pay
stubs, income tax filings, and bank account state-
ments. In a no-doc or low-doc loan, the lender
doesn’t require you to bring proof of your income,
but you will usually have to pay a higher interest
rate or extra fees to get the loan. Lenders generally
charge more for no-doc/low-doc loans.
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Interest-rate caps

An interest-rate cap places a limit on the amount vour interest

rate can increase. Interest caps come in two versions:

w  periodic adjustment caps, which limit the amount the interest
rate can adjust up or down from one adjustment period to
the next after the first adjustment, and

w  [fetime caps, which Himit the interest-rate increase over the
Hife of the loan. By law, virtually all ARMs must have a lite-

Hime cap.

Periodic adjustment caps

Fots wuppose vou have an ARM with a pertodic adjustment inter-

 However at the first adjustment, the indox rate

J—

hie foltowing example shows what havpens.
Bl ¥

Examples in This Handbook

Al examples in this handbook are based on a
$200,000 loan amount and a 30-year term. Payment
amounts in the examples do not include taxes,
insurance, condominium or home-owner associa-
tion fees, or similar items. These amounts can be a
significant part of your monthly payment.
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1st year's monthly $1.199.10
payment at 6% e

2nd years mon
payment at 9% $1,600.42

okt A0 AR
{without cap)

$1,461.72

000 31,200 21,400

In this example, because of the cap on your loan, sour monthly

woiid be

savment in vear 2 s 513870 per month lower tha
P i !

swithout the cap, saving vou S1,604.40 over the vear.

Some ARMs allow a larger rate change at the first adjustment and
then apply a periodic adjustment cap to all future adjustments.

A drop in interest rates does not always lead to a dropin vour
monthly payments. With some ARMs that have interest-rate
caps, the cap may hold vour rate and payment below what

it would have been if the change in the index rate had been

tully applied. The increase in the interest that was not imposed
because of the rate cap might carry over to future rate adjust-
ments. This is called carryover. So at the next adjustment date,
your payment might increase even though the index rate has

staved the same or declined.

The following example shows how carryovers work. Suppose

the index on your ARM increased 3% during the first year.
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Because this ARM limits rate increases to 2% at any one time, the
rate is adjusted by only 2%, to 8% for the second vear. However,
the remaining 1% increase in the index carries over to the next
time the lender can adjust rates. So when the lender adjusts the
interest rate for the third year, the rate increases by 1%, to 9%,

even if there is no change in the index during the second year.

$1,199.10
$1,461.72

$1,597.84

In general, the rate on vour loan can g0 up at any scheduled
adjustment date when the lender’s standard ARM rate (the index
plus the margin) is higher than the rate you are paying before

that adjustment.

Lifetime caps

The next example shows how a lifetime rate cap would affect
vour loan. Let’s say that your ARM starts out with a 6% rate and
the loan has a 6% lifetime cap—that is, the rate can never exceed
[2%. Suppose the index rate increases 1'% in each of the next 9
vears. With a 6% overall cap, your payment would never exceed
$1,998.84—compared with the $2,409.11 that it would have

reached in the tenth year without a cap.
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$1,199.10 §

istyear at 6%

$1,998.84 B

$2,409.11

Payment caps

[ addition to interest-rate caps, manv ARMs-——including
payvment-option ARMs—limit, or cap, the amount your monthly

payment may increase at the time of each adjustment. For

i =)
P

example, if vour foan has a pavment cap of ., vour monthly

paymont wonr't increase more than 70270 over vour previous

payment, even if interest rates rise more. For example, if vour
monthly payment in vear 1 of your mortgage was 51000, it
could only go up to $1,075 in year 2 (712% of $LOUO is an addi-
tional $75). Any interest you den’t pay because of the payment
cap will be added to the balance of your loan. A payment cap can
limit the increase to your monthly payments but also can add to
the amount vou owe on the loan. (This 1s called negative anortiza-

fion, a term that is explained on page 22.)
& 7

Let’s assume that your rate changes in the first vear by 2 percent-
age points but your payments can increase no more than 712%
in any one year. The following graph shows what your monthly

payments would look like.
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$1,199.10 |

$1,289.03

$1,481.72

nmonthly payry

While vour monthly pavment will be onlv $1 289,073 for the

Sdifference of S172.69 cach month will be added

secorid vear
. .
H

fo the balance of vour Toan and will Jead o nevatinve amortization.

Iswath paviment caps do not have periadic interesi-

Hhion, as explained below, most pavinent-option
ARMea have o built-in recaleulation period, usually every S vears,

At that ot v

e payment will be recalculated (lenders use the

fi based onthe remaining term of the toan. If vou have
a 30-vear loar and yvou are at the end of year 5, vour pavmoent
will be recaleulated for the remaining 25 years. The pavment
cap does not apply to this adjustment. If vour loan balance has
increased, or if mterest rates have risen faster than VOur pav-

ments, vour payments could go up a lot.
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Types of ARMS

Hybrid ARMs

Hybrid ARMs often are advertised as 3/1 or 5/1 ARMs—vyou

might also see ads for 7/1 or 10/1 ARMs. These loans are a

mix—or a hybrid—of a fixed-rate period and an adjustable-rate

period. The interest rate is fixed for the first few vears of these

loans--for example, for 5 years in a 571 ARM. After that, the rate

may adjust annually (the Tinthe 5/1 example), until the foan is

paid off Inthe case of 3/ T or 5/1T ARMs

#  the first number tells vou how long the fixed interest-rate
period will be and

s the second number tells vou how often the rate will adjust

after the mitial period.

You may also see ads for 2/2% or 5727 ARMs—the first number
tells vou how long the fixed interest-rate period will be, and the
second number tells you the number of vears the rates on the
[oan will be adjustable. Some 2/28 and 3/27 mortgages adjust

every A months, not annually.
Interest-only ARMs

An interest-only (I-O) ARM payment plan allows you to pay
only the interest for a specified number of years, typically
between 3 and 10 vears. This allows vou to have smaller monthly
payments for a period of time. After that, your monthly payment
will increase—even if interest rates stav the same—because vou

must start paying back the principal as well as the interest each
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month. For some [-O loans, the interest rate adjusts during the

-0 period as well.

For example, if you take out a 30-year mortgage loan with a
S-year [-O payment period, you can pay only interest for 5 years
and then you must pay both the principal and interest over the
next 25 years. Because vou begin to pay back the principal, vour
payments increase after year 5, even if the rate stays the same.
Keep in mind that the longer the -0 period, the higher vour

monthly pavments will be after the [-O period ends.

$1,228.60

$1,543.63 |

Payment-option ARMs

A payment-option ARM is an adjustable-rate mortgage that

allows you to choose amon g several payment options each

month. The options typically include the following:

& atraditional payment of principal and interest, which reduces
the amount you owe on vour mortgage. These payments are
based on a set loan term, such as a 15-, 30-, or 40-year pay-

ment schedule.
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m an interest-only payment, which pays the interest but does not
reduce the amount you owe on vour mortgage as you make
vour payments.

w o wininn (or lnited) payment that may be fess than the
amount of interest due that month and may not reduce
the amount vou owe on vour mortgage. If vou choose this
option, the amount of any interest you do not pay will be
added to the principal of the loan, increasing the amount
you owe and your future monthly payments, and increas-
ing the amount of interest vou will pay over the life of the
loan. In addition, if vou pay only the minimum pavment in

the last few vears of the loan, vou mav owe a larger payment

at the end of the loan term, called o

The interest rate ona pavmentoption A RA is typically very

Yo

fowe far the first few months (for example, for the first 1 1o

1 monthe). After that, the inferest rate usually rises to a rate

closer to that of other mortgage loans. Your pavments during
the first vear are based on the initial fow rate, meaning that it
vou only make the minimum pavment cach month, it will not
reduce the amount vou owe and it may not cover the interest
due. The unpaid interest is added to the antount vou owe on the
mortgage, and vour loan balance increases. This is called negatioe
amortization. This means that even after making many pavments,
you could owe more than you did at the beginning of the loan.

Also, as interest rates go up, vour pavments are likely to go up.

Pavment-option ARMs have a built-in recaleulation period, usu-
ally every 5 years. At this point, your payment will be recalcu-
lated (lenders use the term recast) based on the remaining term
of the loan. If you have a 30-vear loan and you are at the end of

vear 5, vour payment will be recalculated for the remaining 25
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vears. If your loan balance has increased because you have made
only minimum pavments, or if interest rates have risen faster
than your pavments, your pavments will increase each time your
loan is recast. At cach recast, vour new minimum payment will
be a fully amortizing pavment and any payment cap will not
applv. This means that your monthly payment can increase a lot

at each recast.

Lenders may recalculate vour loan pavnients before the recast
period if the amount of principal vou owe grows beyvond a set
FHvit, say 117 or 125% of vour original mortgage amount. For
example, suppose vou made only minimum payvments on your

5200000 maortgage and had any unpaid interest added to vour

balance If the balance grew o S2R0.000 (1257 of $200,0003, vour

lender would recaleulate your pavments so that vou would Pav

off the loan over the remaining term I is hikely that vour pav-

dd o up substantialhy
More information on interest-only and pavment-option ARMs
15 availabie i the Federal Reserve Board’s brochure titled
biterest Only Mortage Payntents and Payiment Option ARMs—

o Yo
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Consumer Cautions

Discounted interest rates

Many lenders offer more than one type of ARM. Somie lenders
offer an ARM with an initial rate that is lower than their fully
indexed ARM rate (that is, lower than the sum of the index plus
the marging. Such rates—called discounted rates, start rates,

or teaser rates - are often combined with large initial foan fees,

sometimies catled peints, and with higher rates atter the initial

discounted rofe oapires.

Your fender or broker mayv offer vou a cholee of foans that may

mclude “discount points” or a “discount fee ” You mav choose

to pay those pomnis or fees inoreturn for a lower interes

keep m mimd that the lower inferest rate may only last

first adjustinient,

falender offers vou a loan with a discount rate, don't assume
that means that the loan is a good one for vou. You should care-
fully consider whether vou will be able to afford higher payments

in later years when the discount expires and the rate is adjusted.

Here is an example of how a discounted initial rate might work.
Let's assume that the lender’s fully indexed one-year ARM rate
{index rate plus margin) is currently 6%; the monthly pavment
for the first year would be $1,199.10. But vour lender is offering
an ARM with a discounted initial rate of 4% for the first year.
With the 4% rate, your first-year’s monthly payment would be

$954.83.
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With a discounted ARM, vour initial payvment will probably
remain at $954.83 tor only a limited time—and any savings
during the discount period may be offset by higher payments
over the remaining life of the mortgage. If vou are considering a
discount ARM, be sure to compare future payments with those
for a fullv indexed ARM. In fact, if you buy a home or refinance
using a deeply discounted initial rate, vou run the risk of pav-
ment shock, negative amortization, or prepavment penalties or

CONVETSION foes,
Payment shock

Paviment shock may acour if your muortgage pavment

sharply at a rale stmont Let's see what would hang
3 o

second vear il the rate on vour discounted 490 ARM won

i P 5 [ . 4 mm § o
toy the 670 fully indesed rate.

Year 2 at 7%

$a00 £1.000 $1 200 ItaG0

As the example shows, even if the index rate were to stay the
same, your monthly payment would go up from $954.83 to

51,192.63 in the second vear.
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Suppose that the index rate increases 1% in one year and the
ARM rate rises to 7%. Your pavment in the second vear would be

§1,320.59.

That’s an increase of $365.76 in your monthly payment. You
can see what might happen if you choose an ARM because of a
low initial rate without considering whether vou will be able to

afford future poyments.

If you have an interest-only ARM, payment shock can also occur

when the interest-only period ends. Or, if vou have a pavment-

, pavment shock can happen when the loan s recast,

lhe following example compares several ditferent loans over the
firet 7 vears of their terms; the pavments shown are for years 1, 6,
and 7 of the mortgase, assuming vou make interest-only payments

or minimum paviments. The main noint is that, depending on the

terms and conditions of vour mortgage and changes in interest rat
ARM payments can change quite a bit over the life of the loan—so
while vou could save moneyv in the first few vears of an ARM, vou

could also face much higher pavments in the future.

30-year
fixed

5/1 ARM

5/11-0
ARM

Payment-
aplion
mortgage

$500 800 51 600 51,208 $7.400 §1 600 B8y
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Negative amortization—When you owe
more money than you borrowed

Negative amortization means that the amount you owe increases
even when you make all vour required payments on time. It
occurs whenever your monthly mortgage payments are not large
enough to pay all of the interest due on your mortgage—the
unpaid interest is added to the principal on vour mortgage, and
vou will owe more than vou originally borrowed. This can happen
because vou are making only minimum payments on a pavment-
option mortgage or becanse your foan has a pavment cap.

For oxample, supp vou baave o $200,000, 30-vear pavment-

5

option ARNM with a 27 vate for the first 3 months and 8 670 rate

for the remaining ¥ months of the vear Your minimum s rent

for the vear 155739 20 as shown in the previous graph. Flow
cver, once e 67 rate is appiied to vour lean balance, vou are

no longer covering the interest costs, IF vou continue to mahke
minimum paviments on this loan, your foan balance at the end
of the first cear of vour mortgage would be $201,118o0r 51,118

more than vou originally horrowed.

Because paymont caps himit ondy the amount of pavment
increases, and not interest-rate increases, payments sometimes
do not cover all the interest due on your loan. This means that
the unpaid interest is automatically added to vour debt, and
interest may be charged on that amount. You might owe the

lender more later in the loan term than vou did at the beginning.

A payment cap limits the increase in vour monthly payment by

deferring some of the interest. Eventually, you would have to
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repay the higher remaining loan balance at the interest rate then
in effect. When this happens, there may be a substantial increase

in your monthly payment.

Some morteages include a cap on negative amortization. The cap
b i Ead
tvpically limits the total amount vou canowe to 110% to 125% of
the original loan amount. When vou reach that point, the lender
will set the monthly payment amounts to fully repav the loan over
the remaining term. Your pavment cap will not apply, and your
4 \ 25 ¥

pavments could be substantially higher You may limit negative

amortization by voluntarily increasing vour muonthly pavment.

Be <ure vou know whether the ARM vou are considering can

Bave negative amortization

Home Prices, Home Equity, and ARMs
Sometimes home prices vise rapidly, allowing
people to quickly build equity in their homes. This
can make some people think that even if the rate
and payments on their ARM get too high, they can
avoid those higher payments by refinancing their
foan or, in the worst case, selling their home. It’s
impaortant to remember that home prices do not
always go up quickly—they may increase a little

or remain the same, and sometimes they fall. If
housing prices fall, your home may not be worth as
much as you owe on the mortgage. Also, you may
find it difficult to refinance your loan to get a lower
monthly payment or rate. Even if home prices stay
the same, if your loan lets you make minimum pay-
ments (see payment-option ARMs on page 33), you
may owe your lender more on your mortgage than
you could get from selling your home.
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Prepayment penalties and conversion

If you get an ARM, vou may decide later that vou don’t want
to risk any increases in the interest rate and pavment amount.
When vou are considering an ARM, ask for information about
any extra fees vou would have to pay if vou pay off the loan
early by refinancing or selling vour home, and whether vou

would be able to convert your ARM to a tixed-rate mortgage.

Prepayment penalties
some ARMs, including interest-only and paviment-option ARMs,

may require vou to pay special fees or penaltios i vou refing

M:
)
)
o

ot pav off the ARM carly (usually within

S Ineaning

the foand. some foans have fard prep

that vou will pav an extra fee or penalty of vou otf the loan

during the penalty period for any reasen thecause vou refinance

,forexam ;’vE@}A Other |

o meanmyg that vou will pay an exira foe or penalty only

i

i vou refinance the loan, but vou will not pav g penalty if vou

soll vour home Adso, some foans may have prepay ment penal-

ties even if you make only a partial prepayment,

Prepavment penalties can be several thousand dollars. For exam-
ple, suppose vou have a 3/1 ARM with an initial rate of 6%. At
the end of vear 2 vou decide to refinance and pav off your origi-
nal loan. At the time of refinancing, vour balance is $194,936. If
vour loan has a prepayment penalty of & months’ interest on the

remaining balance, vou would owe about $5,850.

Sometimes there is a trade-off between having a prepayment

penalty and having lower origination fees or lower interest rates.
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The lender may be willing to reduce or eliminate a prepayment
penalty based on the amount you pav in loan fees or on the inter-

est rate in the loan contract.

If you have a hyvbrid ARM—such as a 2/28 or 3/27 ARM-—be
sure to compare the prepayment penalty period with the ARM's
first adjustment period. For example, if you have a 2/28 ARM
that has a rate and paymcnt adjustment after the second vear, but
the prepayment pu ralty is in effect for the first 5 vears of the loan,

it mayv be costly to refinance when the first adjustment is made.

sos let vou make additional prindipal pas ments

Sost morty

with vour monthly ;‘%m’szm. In most cases, this i<

ered prepaviment, and there uss iallv is no penalie for

amounts Chech with vour lender to make sure there i« no pen-

altv af vou think vou mighty

Lﬁr!gi( yn 3( xx“{w\w Iyl y‘f

Conversion fees

Your agreement with the lender mayv include a clause that lets
vou convert the ARM to g fixed-rate mortgage at designated
times. When vou convert, the new rate is generally set using a

formula given in vour loan documents.

The interest rate or up-front fees may be somewhat higher for a
comvertible ARM. Also, a convertible ARM may require a fee at

the time of conversion.
Graduated-payment or stepped-rate loans

Some fixed-rate loans start with one rate for one or two vears

and then change to another rate for the remaining term of the
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loan. While these are not ARMSs, your pavment will go up
according to the terms of vour contract. Talk with your lender
or broker and read the information provided to vou to make
sure you understand when and by how much the pavment will

change.
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Where to Get Information

Disclosures from lenders

You should receive information in writing about cach ARM pro-
gram vou are interested in before you have paid a nonrefundable
fee. It is important that you read this information and ask the
lender or broker about anything vou don’t understand-—index
rates, margins, caps, and other ARM features such as negative
amortization After vou have applied for a loan, vow will get
more information from the lender about vour lean, including the
ADPR, a pavment schedule, and whether the loan bas i prepav-

ment penalty.

RN LT I DRV AU I JE SO
The AR is the cost of vour credit as a vearly yatw

account nterest, points paid on the loan, any fo
lender for making the loan, and any mortgage imsurance pre-

miums vou may have to pay. You can compare ADRs o similar

ST ARM) to

ARMs (for example, compare APRs ona 5/1 and a
determine which loan will cost you less in the fony tevm, but vou
should keep in mind that because the interest rate for an ARM

can change, APRs on ARMSs cannot be compared directly to APRs

for fixed-rate mortgages.
b

You may want to talk with financdial advisers, housing counsel-
ors, and other trusted advisers. Contact a local housing coun-
seling agency, call the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban
Development toll-free at 800-569-4287, or visit www.hud.gov/

offices/hsg/sth/hee/heeprofl4.cfm to find a center near you.
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Newspapers and the Internet

When buving a home or refinancing your existing mortgage,
remember to shop around. Com pare costs and terms, and negoti-
ate for the best deal. Your local newspaper and the Internet are
zood places to start shopping for a loan. You can usually find
mformation on interest rates and points for several lenders. Since
rates and points can change daily, voull want to check informa-

ton sources often when shopping for a home loan.

The Mortgage Shopping Worksheet mav also help vou. Take it
with vou whon vou speak to cach fendor or broker and write

Jown the information vou obtain. Don't be afratd to make fond-

creuid brokers compete with oo vaur business

fetting them know that vou are shopping for the best deal

Advertisements

Anvinitial information vou receive about mortgages probably

solicitations from build-

sime from advertisements

o, real estate brokers, mortgage brokers, and lenders. Although
this intormation can be helpful, keep in mind that these are mar-
keting materisls—the ads and mailings are designed to make the
mortgage look as attractive as possible. These ads mav plav up
fow mitial interest rates and monthly pavments, without empha-
sizing that those rates and pavments could increase substantially
later, 50, get all the facts.

Anv ad for an ARM that shows an initial interest rate should also
show how long the rate is in effect and the APR on the loan. [f

the APR is much higher than the initial rate, vour payments may
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increase a lot after the introductory period, even if interest rates

stay the same.

Choosing a mortgage may be the most important financial deci-
sion vou will make. You are entitled to have all the information
vou need to make the right decision. Don’t hesitate to ask ques-
tions about ARM features when vou talk fo lendors, mortgage
brokers, real estate agents, sellers, and vour attorney, and keep

asking until vou get clear and complete answers.

O
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Glossary

Adjustable-rate mortgage (ARM)

A mortgage that does not have a fixed interest rate. The rate
changes during the life of the loan based on movements in an
index rate, such as the rate for Treasury securities or the Cost of

Funds Index.

Annual percentage rate (APR)

A measure of the cost of credit, expressed as a vearty rate [

includes interest aswell as points, broker fees, and cortain other

credit charges that vou are required to pay. Because ail fe

when caleulating the AR i pr

AN D
ors Follow

vou with a g

mortgages, over the torm ot the loan.

Balloon payment

Alump-sum pavment that may be required when @ mortgage
toan ends. This can happen when the lender allows vou to make
smaller pavments until the very end of the loan. A\ balloon pay-
ment will be a much Larger payment compared with the other

monthly pavments vou made.

Buydown

With a buydown, the selfer pavs an amount to the fender so
that the lender can give vou a lower rate and lower pavments,
usually for an initial period in an ARM. The seller may increase
the sales price to cover the cost of the buydown. Buvdowns can

occur in all types of mortgages, not just ARMs.
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Cap, interest rate

Alimit on the amount your interest rate can mcrease. Interest

caps come in two versions:

®»  periodic adjustment caps, which limit the interest-rate increase
from one adjustment period to the next, and

a  [ifetine caps, which limit the interest-rate increase over the
life of the loan. By law, virtually all ARMs must have an

overall cap.

Cap, payment
Alimit on how much the monthly pavment mav change, either
cach time the payment changes or during the life of the mort-

s may dead o negative amortization because

Pavment cap

theyv do ot Hmit the amount of interest the lender is earming.

Conversion clause

:

wrovision i some ARMs that allows vou to chanee the ARM

rate loan at some pomnt during the term, Conversion is
} 5

owed at the end of the frst adjustiment period. At the

tirme of the conversion, the new fixed rate 1s generally set at one

af the rates then prevailing for fixed-rate mortgages. The conver-

ston feature may be available at extra cost.

Discounted initial rate [also known as a start rate or
teaser rate}

In an ARM with a discounted initial rate, the lender offers vou

& lower rate and lower payments for part of the mortgage term
(usually for 1, 3, or 5 vears). After the discount period, the ARM
rate will probably go up depending on the index rate. Discounts

can occur in all types of mortgages, not just ARMs.
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&

Equity
The difference between the fair market value of the home and
the outstanding balance on your mortgage plus any ou tstanding

home equity loans.

Hybrid ARM

These ARMs are a miv—or a hvbrid—of a fixed-rate period and

an adjustable-rate period. The interest rate is fixed for the first

several vears of the loan: after that, the rate could adjust annu-

allv. For ecxample, hvbrid ARMS can be advertised as 371 or

5/ be—the tirst number tells vou how long the fixed interest-rate
} .

poricod will be and the < wh number tells vou how often the

: . I s .
rate will adjust after the initial period,

index

The cconomic indicator nsed o calvulate interest-rato adjust-

ments for adpustoble-rate martgages. No one can be sure when
an index rate will go up or down See the chart in the st for
examples of how some common indeves have changed in the

past,

interest
The price paid for borrowing money, usually given in percent-

ages and as an annual rate.

Interest-only payment ARM

An I-O payment ARM plan allows you to pav only the interest
for a specified number of vears. After that, vou must repay both
the principal and the interest over the remaining term of the

loan.
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Margin
The number of percentage points the lender adds to the index

rate to calculate the ARM interest rate at each adjustment.

Negative amortization

Occurs when the monthly payments do not cover all the inter-
oot owed. The interest that is not paid in the monthly payment
is added to the loan balance. This means that even after making
many pavments, vou could owe more than vou did at the begin-
ning of the loan. Negative amortization can occur when an ARM

has a payment cap that results in monthly pavments that are not

oh enough to cover the interest due or when the minimum
paviments are sef atan amoeund foveer than the amount vou owe

iy g botest.

pPayment-option ARM

A ARM that alows vou to

sose among several pavment
options cach month. The options tvpically include (1) a tradi-

tonal amortizing payment of prif ipal and interest, (2) an
miterest-only payment, or (%) minimum {or Himited) pavment
that may be less than the amount of interest due that month. it
vou choese the minimum-payment option, the amount of any
interest vou do not pay will be added to the principal of your

loan (see negative amorkization).

Points {may be called discount points)

One point is equal to 1 percent of the principal amount of your
mortgage. For example, if the mortgage is for $200,000, one
point equals $2,000. Lenders frequently charge points in both
fixed-rate and adjustable-rate mortgages in order to cover loan
origination costs or to provide additional compensation to the

lender or broker. These points usually are collected at closing
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and may be paid by the borrower or the home seller, or may be
split between them. Discount points (sometimes called discount
Jeesy are points that vou voluntarily choose to pay in return for a

tower interest rate.

Prepayment penalty

Extra fees that may be due if vou pay off the loan early by refi-
nancing vour loan or sefling vour home, usually limited to the
first 3 to 3 vears of the foan’s term. [f vour loan includes a prepay-
ment penalty, be aware of the penalty vou would have to pav.
Compare the lenath of the prepayment penalty period with the

period of the ARM toy soo if refinancir Seost-

Hrst adp

effoctive before can st adjusts. Some foans mav have pre-

paviment penalties cuven i vou make only a partiad proepavment.

Principal

Phe amount o Cborrowed or the amount <5 owed on a

¥
foan,
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Looking for the Best Mortgage—Shop, Compare, Negotiate

at www federalreserve.gov/pubs/ mottgage /mortb 1 htm)
5 KA

Interest-Only Mortguge Payinents and Payment-Option
ARMs—Are They for You?

{at www. lederalreserve.gov/pubs/moertgage interestonly /)

[

A Consumer’s Guide to Mortgage Lock-Ins

{at wwwtederabreserve.gov / pubs /ockins /default him)

A Conswmer’s Guide to Mortgage Settlement Costs

{at i fee ~aov/ pubs Ssettiement. default htm)
Know Before Yon Go .. o Get a Mortgage: A Guide fo Mortgage
Products and o Glossary of Lending Terms

(at wwse bos frboorg /consumer/knowbeforevougo/ mortgage /

mortgage. pdh

Partners Online Mortgage Calculator

(at www. irbatlanta.org/partnerssoftwareonhne /dsp_main.cfm)
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This information was prepared by the Board of Governors of the

Federal Reserve Svstern and the Office of Thrift Su pervision in

consultation with the following organizations:

AARP

American Association of Residential Mortgage Regulators
America’s Community Bankers

Center for Responsible Lending

Conference of State Bank Supervisors

Consumer Federation of America

Consumer Morteage Coalition

Consumers Union

Credit Unon National Associabon

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

Federal Reserve Board's Consumer Advisory Coundl

Commission

Independent crmunity Bankers Association
Mortzage Bankers Association

Mortgage nsurance Companies of America
National Assoctation of Federal Credit Unions
National Association ot Home Builders
National Association of Mortgage Brokers
National Association of Realtors

National Community Reinvestment Coalition
National Consumer Law Center

National Credit Union Administration

Rovised: 2006 Reprinted: Drecomber 2006 20,000






EXHIBIT B

CERTIFICATION OF PROVIDING CHARM BOOKLET

To be completed by Borrower:

I have received the CHARM Booklet, which I may keep, and have had it for at least
24 hours before closing on an adjustable rate mortgage (‘“ARM”). I have read the
CHARM Booklet and understand it.

Dated:

Borrower’s signature Borrower name (please print)
To be completed by Mortgage Toolbox, Inc. or Peteresen’s Mortgage

I hereby certify that I provided the CHARM Booklet to the borrower at the time and
on the date indicated below:

Delivered to borrower on:

(date)

at (time)

Signed on behalf of o Mortgage Toolbox. Inc. or o Petersen’s Mortgage

Representative of Mortgage Toolbox, Inc.
or Petersen’s Mortgage

Print Name and Title

Date:




